RECEIVED

Feb 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Charleston County Court of Common Pleas
Hon. Judge Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001030

Maybank 2754, LLC.....Appellant,

Versus

Eugene Zurlo, Individually and as co-trustee of the Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust Dated
December 11, 1997; 1776, LLC; Beach Fenwick, LLC; The Beach Company; Seamon,
Whiteside & Associates, Inc.; Penny Creek Associates, LLC; John Doe and Mary
Roe.....Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully Submitted,

Scarlet B. Moore

Scarlet B. Moore, #72534
P.O. Box 17615
Greenville, S.C. 29606

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court have subject matter jurisdiction over the Respondents' motions for summary judgment, that were heard subsequent to the Appellants filing a notice of appeal relative to the issue of the master's jurisdiction to hear this matter?
2. Did the trial court err in transferring this matter to the master in equity?
3. Did the trial court err in granting the Respondents' motions for summary judgment?
4. Did the trial court err in (effectively) denying Appellant's motion to amend complaint?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was commenced in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas by the Appellant Maybank 2754, LLC (“Maybank”), a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, filing an action on January 13, 2020, against multiple defendants named herein as Respondents, seeking various points of relief related to the Appellant’s assertion of the existence of a thirty (30)-foot easement in favor of the Appellant on land owned by Respondent Beach Fenwick, LLC, pursuant to the conveyance of title to same – “Property”. (Summons and Complaint.) The Complaint was verified by Michel F. Laplante, who serves as Manager of Maybank. (Complaint Verification.) The adjacent lot owned by the Appellant has a building situated thereon with office spaces for lease. During all material times, office space on the Appellant’s lot has been leased and was being leased as of the date of the filing of the Complaint. Until on or about October 4, 2013, Respondent Penny Creek solely owned Maybank and was the sole member of Maybank. Eugene Zurlo, identified as a Respondent in this matter individually and as a co-trustee of the Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust dated December 11, 1997, was a member of Penny Creek at all relevant times and was a member at the time of the filing of the Complaint. The Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust is upon the information and belief of the Appellant the sole member of Respondent 1776, LLC, with Eugene Zurlo and his Wife serving as co-trustees. On October 4, 2013, Respondent Zurlo executed that certain Resolution of the Sole Shareholder of Penny Creek Associates, LLC – a true and correct copy of the Resolution is attached to the Complaint and incorporated therein as an exhibit by the Appellant. (Complaint; Resolution.) Pursuant to the Resolution, Penny Creek approved the transfer of its membership interest in Maybank to individuals set forth therein – members of the Laplante Family – and also agreed to grant to them, and their assigns, a thirty (30) foot private

right of way access easement for pedestrian and vehicular ingress, egress and access to, from and over the Property, the location and condition of which to be mutually agreed upon at the completion of that certain roadway known as Pitchfork Road. (Resolution.) Pursuant to the Resolution, upon completion of Pitchfork Road, an easement agreement to memorialize the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement would follow. As of the date of the filing of the Complaint, Pitchfork Road had not been completed, and the Resolution was not recorded. At the time of the Resolution, members of the Laplante Family owned real estate, or had an interest in residential real estate, that was also adjacent to the Property. Maybank was assigned rights to the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement. (Resolution.)

As the Appellant describes in the Complaint, Mr. Zurlo has a contentious history with certain members of the Laplante Family. On December 16, 2013, a little over two (2) months after Zurlo executed the Resolution, Zurlo and others commenced a derivative and judicial dissolution action against Penny Creek and others in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas under case # 2013-CP-10-07280. On August 14, 2014, approximately ten (10) months after Zurlo executed the Resolution, a foreclosure action, the Property being a subject thereof, was commenced against Penny Creek and others by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas Case # 2014-CP-10-4946. Thereafter, on or about February 29, 2016, the derivative and judicial dissolution action was settled on the record before the Court. Upon information and belief of the Appellant Maybank, on May 19, 2016, as part of the settlement of the derivative and judicial dissolution action, Penny Creek executed and delivered a promissory note to The Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust dated December 11, 1997, and secured it with a second mortgage on the Property. On April 7, 2017, articles of organization of 1776 were filed with the South Carolina Secretary of State. On the same day that 1776 was created, April 7, 2017, The

Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust dated December 11, 1997 also assigned the Zurlo Note and Mortgage to 1776. Upon information and belief of the Appellant, around the time of the creation of 1776, the Zurlo Note and Mortgage went into default. Thereafter, 1776 intervened in the above-referenced foreclosure action and received a credit bid based on the indebtedness owed on the Zurlo Note and Mortgage. Subsequently, 1776 was the winning bidder at the foreclosure sale and consequently received title to the Property by virtue of a Master's deed.

During the pendency of the above-referenced derivative and judicial dissolution and foreclosure action, the Property was in the process of being developed while it was still owned by Penny Creek, and Respondent Seamon Whiteside was hired by Penny Creek to prepare planned unit development guidelines for the Property that were submitted to the City of Charleston for approval. Upon information and belief, as a direct result of its involvement with the development process and in working with Penny Creek, and later also with 1776 and Zurlo for the development of the Property, Seamon Whiteside acquired actual knowledge of the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement. Upon information and belief, sometime after 1776's acquisition of the Property, Beach Company became involved with and assisted with, the development of the Property. The Appellant asserts in its verified complaint that as a direct result of its involvement with the development process and working with 1776 and Zurlo for the development of the Property, Beach Company acquired actual knowledge of the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement. Subsequently, on November 27, 2019, 1776 entered into a certain development agreement with the City of Charleston to develop the Property, which was recorded with the Register of Deeds in Charleston County, South Carolina. Then, on December 12, 2019, 1776 transferred the Property to Beach Fenwick by virtue of a deed recorded with the Register of Deeds of Charleston County, South Carolina.

The current owner of the Property that is the subject of this litigation is Respondent Beach Fenwick, and upon information and belief of Appellant is an affiliate and/or subsidiary of Beach Company, sharing some of the same officers, directors and/or employees who had actual knowledge of the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement, and otherwise had actual knowledge of the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement before it acquired title to the Property. Also, on December 12, 2019, 1776 partially assigned its rights and obligations of the above-referenced development agreement to Beach Fenwick except for its obligations “with respect to the contribution of land for Northern Pitchfork Road....” pursuant to that certain partial assignment and assumption of rights and obligations under development agreement recorded with the Register of Deeds of Charleston County, South Carolina. Upon information and belief of the Appellant, the development plans for the Property do not have any specific provisions or reservations for the thirty (30) foot private right of way easement upon the completion of Pitchfork Road.

The Appellants allege multiple causes of action against the Respondents: Conspiracy leading to a demand for a declaratory judgment that an easement exists in favor of the Appellant; that the Resolution as described above establishes that a restrictive covenant exists that runs with the land, which covenant touches and concerns the land and specifically identifies the easement; that there exists a civil conspiracy committed by the Respondents due to the fact that all Defendants had actual knowledge of the easement and they purposely concealed such from any recorded documents and their representations and submissions to the City of Charleston to obtain development approval of the Property causing damages to the Appellant; that the Appellant is entitled to a temporary injunction restraining the Respondents Zurlo, 1776 and Beach Fenwick from developing the Property to preserve the status quo until after a trial on the merits and a

judgment is rendered and alleging irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; and the Appellant specifically requested a jury trial on all issues triable by jury. (Verified Complaint.) The Answer of the Beach Entities is curious on the issue of actual knowledge of the easement – they allege that they deny so much thereof as alleges or may be construed to allege that there exists any valid legitimate or enforceable easement, as alleged by Appellant, in or upon the Property and thus also deny Beach Co. could have had any actual notice thereof. (Answer and Amended Answer of Beach Co., paragraphs 32, 35, 39, 40, 41, 45, 57.)

On or about June 16 and 25, 2020, the parties appeared before Honorable Judge Bentley D. Price pursuant to certain motions filed by the Respondents and a motion filed on behalf of the Appellant, in the following particulars: Beach Fenwick, LLC and The Beach Co.’s motion to dismiss; Beach Entities’ Motion to Refer to the Master-In-Equity; Seamon Whiteside Associates, Inc.’s motion to dismiss civil conspiracy; 1776, LLC’s motion to dismiss; 1776’s motion to refer to the Master-In-Equity; Eugene J. Zurlo, individually and as co-trustee of Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust’s motion to refer to the Master-In-Equity; and the Appellant Maybank 2754’s motion for temporary injunction. (Order of Judge Price – July 13, 2020; Motions.) On June 30, 2020, Judge Price issued a Form 4 Order finding that “Appellant Maybank 2754 LLC’s Motion/Temporary Injunction is denied. Defendant Beech Company’s Motion to Dismiss and Refer to the Master, along with all outstanding motion to refer to the master, are granted.” (Order of Judge Price – June 30, 2020.) On July 7, 2020, the Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court’s Order Entered on June 30, 2020 and request for Expedited Ruling. (Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration.) On July 8, 2020, the Respondents collectively represented by Eugene J. Zurlo individually and as co-trustee of the Eugene J. Zurlo living trust dated December 11, 1997, filed a Joint Response to the Appellant’s Motion for

Reconsideration in which they asserted that the matter was correctly transferred to the Master-in-Equity. (Joint Response.) On July 13, 2020, Judge Price issued a more detailed order further elaborating on the trial court's ruling denying the temporary injunction request by Appellant and granting the relief sought by the Respondents, which was transfer of this matter to the Master-in-Equity. (Order of Judge Price – July 13, 2020.) Specifically, Judge Price ordered that the “entire case and all the pending Motions are referred to the Master-in-Equity, pursuant to and consistent with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 53. All pre-trial matters, including the parties’ motions shall be and are hereby referred to the Master-in-Equity, with finality, with appeal directly to the South Carolina Court of Appeals or the South Carolina Supreme Court.” (Order of Judge Price – July 13, 2020.) The Appellant filed and served a timely Notice of Appeal of Judge Price’s June 20, 2020 and July 13, 2020 orders, on July 15, 2020. (Notice of Appeal – July 15, 2020.) On August 14, 2020, the Eugene J. Zurlo defendants filed a Motion and Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, and subsequently on September 14, 2020 filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (Zurlo Motion and Memo for Summary Judgment and Supplemental Memo.) On August 18, 2020, while the first appeal filed by Appellants was pending the Master-in-Equity filed an order transferring this matter back to the Circuit Court, and purported to moot the appeal filed by Appellant. (Order of Hon. Mikell R. Scarborough, August 18, 2020.) Subsequently, Beach Fenwick, LLC and the Beach Company filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 19, 2020 and a Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment on September 18, 2020. (Beach Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment – August 19, 2020, and Memorandum of September 18, 2020.) On August 26, 2020, Respondent Seamon, Whiteside & Associates filed a Supplement to Motion to Dismiss and/or Motion for Summary Judgment.

(Seamon, Whiteside Motion for Summary Judgment – August 26, 2020.) On September 3, 2020, the Respondent 1776, LLC filed a Notice and Motion for Summary Judgment and a Memorandum of Law in Support of Summary Judgment on September 21, 2020. (1776, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment – September 3, 2020, and Memorandum of September 21, 2020.) Subsequently, on or about September 15, 2020, all of the Respondents filed in this Appellate Court a joint Motion to Dismiss Appeal and for Costs and Memorandum in Support Thereof, based on the order of Judge Scarborough transferring this matter back to the Circuit Court. (Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss – September 15, 2020.) Of note is that the Respondents in their motion to dismiss incorrectly purport that the only issue raised by the Appellant is the issue of jurisdiction of the Master-in-Equity – when in fact the issues raised are not fully developed until the filing of the Initial Brief pursuant to the S.C. Rules of Appellate Practice. The Appellant filed a Return to the motion asserting that the order entered by the Master-in-Equity was entered without jurisdiction due to the fact that pursuant to Rule 205 of the S.C. Rules of Appellate Practice, upon the service of a notice of appeal the appellate court shall have *exclusive* jurisdiction over the appeal, with the trial court retaining jurisdiction over matters not affected by the appeal. In an order by Honorable Judge Bruce Williams filed on November 12, 2020 on behalf of this Court, Judge Williams *denied* the Respondents’ motion to dismiss the appeal citing Rule 205 of the S.C. Rules of Appellate Practice as urged by Appellant in its Return specifically based on the issue of lack of jurisdiction by the Master to take action on the matter pending the appeal. (Order of Judge Williams – Filed Nov. 12, 2020.) However, the Appellant in its Return noted that given the position of the Respondents, they would likely be willing to file a consent order voluntarily transferring the matter to the Circuit Court. (Return of Appellant to Motion to Dismiss.) Appellant’s counsel has yet to receive any further correspondence from the

Respondents regarding a consent order resolving the appeal and formally and correctly transferring the matter to the Circuit Court. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court continued to hear matters regarding this case following the entry of the Order of Judge Williams.

On September 17, 2020, the Appellant filed a Response in Opposition to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, as detailed above. (Appellant's Response in Opp. To Summary Judgment – September 17, 2020.) The parties appeared before Honorable Judge Bentley D. Price on or about August 24, 2020 to present evidence and testimony on the issues presented to the Court, which included the multiple summary judgment motions filed by the Respondents. (Transcript of SJM hearing, 8/24/20.) At the outset of the hearing, counsel for Appellant specifically raised the question of whether or not the trial court had jurisdiction over the motions given the filing of the Notice of Appeal. Of note is the following exchange by Appellant's trial counsel and the trial court:

Mr. Tarokh: Your Honor, Jason Tarokh, on behalf of the Plaintiff. We have some preliminary issues that I think the Court should consider before we dive into the motions for summary judgment, if the Court prefers.

The Court: All right. And what are they?

Mr. Tarokh: Yes, Your Honor. There's currently a pending appeal. I bring that up, in all candor, to the Court. If you recall, a couple of weeks ago we were before Your Honor via Zoom on my motion for temporary injunction and their motions for order of referral to the Master-In-Equity. The Court ordered that this case and all pending motions, et cetera, be transferred to the Master-In-Equity. We appealed that order. The Defendant sought a status conference with a master-in-equity to obtain one. And the Master-in Equity issued an order transferring this case back to the Circuit Court.

The Court: Perfect.

Mr. Tarokh: The only issue I have with it, Your Honor, is the Master-in-Equity, without jurisdiction even issued that order.

.....

The Court: But the Master agreed with you and sent it back up.

Mr. Tarokh: Right. But the Master also did not have jurisdiction. So it's questionable whether or not the order is even valid, to begin with.

(Transcript of SJM hearing 8/24/20 p 4, lines 13-25; p. 5, lines 1-12; p. 7, lines 11-16.)

On October 7, 2020, Judge Price issued an order granting summary judgment in favor of Eugene Zurlo and The Beach Company. (Order of Judge Price – October 7, 2020.) Judge Price also granted the Defendant Seamon Whiteside and Associates Inc’s Motion to Supplement/Motion to Dismiss. (Order of Judge Price – October 7, 2020.) In a supplemental order filed on October 8, 2020, Judge Price granted 1776, LLC’s motion for summary judgment, and granted The Beach Company and Beach Fenwick’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (Order of Judge Price – October 8, 2020.) On October 12, 2020, Judge Price issued a more detailed order granting summary judgment in favor of all defendants. (Order of Judge Price – October 12, 2020.) On October 16, 2020, the Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Order Entered on October 7, 2020, Order Entered on October 8, 2020, and Order Granting All Defendants Summary Judgment: Motion to Amend and/or Vacate Findings of Fact: Request for Ruling on Issues Raised: and Request for Expedited Ruling. (Appellant’s Motion – October 16, 2020.) The Respondents filed various responses to the Appellant’s Motion. On November 6, 2020, Judge Price filed an Order denying the Appellant’s October 7, 2020 Motion to Alter or Amend Order. (Order of Judge Price – November 6, 2020.) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal of all three orders entered on October 7, October 8, and October 12, 2020 regarding summary judgment, on November 9, 2020.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Respondents' motions for summary judgment as exclusive jurisdiction of this matter remains with the S.C. Court of Appeals.

The trial court in this matter did not have subject matter jurisdiction to proceed with motions for summary judgment filed by the Respondents. It is well-settled that issues relating to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. See *Johnson v. State*, 319 S.C. 62, 459 S.E.2d 840 (1995); *GNOC Corp. v. Estate of Rhyne*, 312 S.C. 86, 439 S.E.2d 274 (1994); *State v. Gorie*, 256 S.C. 539, 183 S.E.2d 334 (1971). Subject matter jurisdiction refers to the court's power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong. *Dove v. Gold Kist*, 314 S.C. 235, 442 S.E.2d 598 (1994); *Watson v. Watson*, 319 S.C. 92, 460 S.E.2d 394 (1995). Lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised *sua sponte* by the court." *Badeaux v. Davis*, 337 S.C. 195, 205, 522 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 1998)). Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived, even by consent of the parties, and should be taken notice of by this court *ex mero motu*. *Id.* Rule 205, SCACR, provides that the appellate court shall have exclusive jurisdiction over matters on appeal. The lower court may only proceed with matters not affected by the appeal. (emphasis added) Rule 225(a), SCACR, provides that the lower court retains jurisdiction over matters not affected by the appeal including the authority to enforce any matters not stayed by the appeal.

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