RECEIVED

Aug 17 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2020-001030

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas, Ninth Judicial Circuit
Hon. Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

2020-CP-10-00209

Maybank 2754, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Eugene Zurlo, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the Eugene J. Zurlo Living Trust Dated December 11,1997; 1776, LLC; Beach Fenwick, LLC; The Beach Company; Seamon, Whiteside & Associates, Inc.; Penny Creek Associates, LLC; John Doe and Mary Roe Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
BEACH FENWICK, LLC AND THE BEACH COMPANY [sic]

/s/ Cheryl D. Shoun
Cheryl D. Shoun
Chase C. Keibler

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The First appeal is moot or, alternatively, Appellant waived any appeal based upon jurisdiction**

On July 13, 2020, the Circuit Court issued an order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider and clarifying its previous Order transferring the matter to the Master-In-Equity. (R. pp. 179). In so clarifying, the Circuit Court concluded that the case and pending motions are "referred to the Master-in-Equity, pursuant to and consistent with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 53." (R. pp. 182). The Circuit Court continued, "[a]ll pre-trial matters, including the parties' motions, shall be and are hereby referred to the Master-in-Equity." (R. pp. 183) (emphasis added). Thus, at a minimum, the Master-In-Equity had authority, pursuant to Rule 53, SCRPC, to hear pre-trial matters, and transfer any matter back to the Circuit Court for a jury trial, where appropriate

Rule 53(b), SCRPC provides that any party may move for some or all of the causes of action in a case to be referred to the Master-In-Equity. The Beach Entities, and other Respondents, moved to refer all non-jury trial matters to the Master-In-Equity. (R. pp. 534; 594; 595; and 677).

Appellant appealed the Circuit Court's June 26 and July 13 orders referring "all pre-trial matters" to the Master-In-Equity. (R. pp. 1931). After a status conference with the Master-In-Equity, the Master-In-Equity returned the case to the circuit court. Rule 53(b),

SCRCP continues, “[a]ny party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38, SCRCP on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.” (R. pp. 185; 1755). Appellant now maintains the Master-In-Equity did not have jurisdiction to return the case to Circuit Court – the precise relief Appellant seeks from this Court. Regardless, the Master-In-Equity, at the status conference, sent the entire matter back to circuit court, which is exactly what Maybank requested, thus making Appellant’s first appeal moot. (R. pp. 185).

The Master-In-Equity’s Order Returning the Case to Circuit Court is unambiguous; it found that “[Maybank] objects to the court’s jurisdiction as it has filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order of Reference on the basis of its Mode of trial for which Plaintiff demands trial by jury. . . . This court concludes that the matter should be returned to the circuit court for disposition under Rule 38, SCRCP and 53(b), SCRCP and that this ruling would moot Plaintiff’s appeal.” (R. pp. 185).

“[M]oot appeals result when intervening events render a case nonjusticiable.” *McClam v. State*, 386 S.C. 49, 55, 686 S.E.2d 203, 206 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 552, 590 S.E.2d 338, 349 (Ct.App.2003) (“the function of appellate courts is not to give opinions on merely abstract of theoretical matters, but only to decide actual controversies injuriously affecting the rights of some party to the litigation.”)). A matter becomes moot “when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.” *Collins Music Co. v. IGT*, 365 S.C. 544, 549, 619 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567–68, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001)).

“In civil cases, there are three exceptions to the mootness doctrine: (1) an appellate court can retain jurisdiction if the issue is capable of repetition yet evading review, (2) an appellate court can decide cases of urgency to establish a rule for future conduct in matters of important public interest, and (3) if the decision by the trial court can affect future events or have collateral consequences to the parties, the appellate court can take jurisdiction.” *Id.* None of the exceptions apply in the instant case.

The issue Maybank raises in its First Notice of Appeal is whether the Circuit Court’s Order Referring the matter to the Master-In-Equity affects its “mode of trial.” The Master-In-Equity, in line with its authority granted by Rule 53(b), SCRCF, subsequently sent this matter back to circuit court and, therefore, Appellants “mode of trial” is no longer affected. This intervening event rendered this appeal nonjusticiable. (R. pp. 1931). Appellant’s relief sought by this court is “impossible” because it already enjoys the relief requested. Appellant’s first appeal would result in this Court overruling the Circuit Court’s July 13, 2020 Order transferring the case to the Master-In-Equity and, therefore, place remaining matters back in front of the Circuit Court. In actuality, this is what occurred. The Master-In-Equity returned the entire matter back to the Circuit Court and the case progressed. (R. pp. 185).

This appeal, therefore, is mooted by the Master-In-Equity’s August 18, 2020 Order Returning Case to Circuit Court that explicitly provides its “ruling would moot Plaintiff’s appeal.” (R. pp. 185). Of particular note, Appellant did not notice an appeal of the Master-In-Equity’s August 18, 2020 Order based on its lack of jurisdiction over the issue – likely because it received the relief requested.

Moreover, the relief requested, if granted, leads to an absurd result with no practical relief because it would seemingly place the matter back in Circuit Court (where it was ultimately disposed) and re-litigate summary judgment on facts and issues that have not changed, thereby unnecessarily protracting this litigation.⁵ In addition, Rule 1, SCRCF mandates that “in all South Carolina courts in all suits of a civil nature,” the rules “shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.”

Alternatively, and in addition, Appellant waived its right to maintain the first appeal by (1) failing to prosecute the appeal, (2) agreeing the issue is resolved, and (3) by its actions and conduct in moving forward with the matter in Circuit Court. On July 15, 2020, Appellant filed and served its original Notice of Appeal of the Trial Court’s June 20 and July 13, 2020 Orders. Appellant failed to prosecute its first appeal and, therefore, has waived any arguments made in that regard. Appellant failed to file its initial brief within 30 days “after receiving the transcript or, if no transcript is ordered, within 30 days after serving the notice of appeal.” Rule 208(a)(1), SCACR. Nonetheless, Appellant filed its initial brief regarding its July 15, 2020 Notice of Appeal on February 22, 2021 – 192 days beyond the 30 days allotted by Rule 208, SCACR. While this Court consolidated

⁵ Even if the Circuit Court had committed an error in ruling on Respondents’ motions for summary judgment—which it did not—any such error would be harmless and therefore would not justify sending this case back to the Circuit Court and requiring the Circuit Court to rule on the same motions a second time before this Court reaches the merits of the appeal. See *State v. Jenkins*, 412 S.C. 643, 651, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909–10 (2015) (“Harmless error analyses are fact-intensive inquiries and are not governed by a definite set of rules. Rather, appellate courts must determine the materiality and prejudicial character of the error in relation to the entire case.”) (internal citations omitted).

Appellants' appeals in a November 11, 2020 letter, Appellant still had not yet filed its initial brief regarding its July 15, 2020 Notice of Appeal. Appellant failed to timely move forward with its initial July 15, 2020 Appeal and, indeed, it took Appellant over seven months to file its initial brief.

After the Master-In-Equity's August 18, 2020 Order Returning Case to Circuit Court, the Appellant already enjoyed the relief it sought from its first appeal. Moreover, in its Return to Respondents' Joint Motion to Dismiss the First Appeal, Appellant noted "it appears from Respondents' motion to dismiss that they would be willing to execute a consent order for this Court's consideration, with all parties consenting to the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court for a trial by jury in this matter." (R. pp. 1485). While Respondents did not respond to this invitation, Maybank's failure to appeal the Master-In-Equity Order and its repeated acts availing itself of the Circuit Court's jurisdiction demonstrated its affirmation of that court's jurisdiction.

Indeed, Appellant moved forward in Circuit Court and did not raise or argue the Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in either its memorandum in opposition to Respondents' Motions for summary judgment or Appellant's 43-page motion to alter or amend the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment. (See *generally*, App. Mem. Opp.; App. Mot. Alter or Am.) (R. pp. 1432; 1493). Appellant filed several filings in Circuit Court including a Motion to Compel and Motion to Amend its Complaint, which was ultimately denied. (R. pp. 1147; 1350).

Moreover, at the Hearing on Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment, counsel for Appellant affirmatively argued, "I believe we can still proceed forward today ... We're ready to proceed. We have a pending motion to amend the complaint. And we're

ready to proceed on that. And we're also ready to dive into the substance of the Defendants' motions for summary judgment, as well." (R. pp. 1697, lines 11 – 15; 1699, lines 7 – 25).

For the above stated reasons, Respondents respectfully request this Court find Appellant's First Appeal is moot and/or waived by Appellant.

II. There is no, nor was there ever, an easement; the trial court did not err in granting Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment finding no easement exists

The appropriate standard of review applicable to an order granting of summary judgment is *de novo*. On review from a grant of summary judgment, the Court applies the same standard applied by the circuit court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Bluestein v. Town of Sullivan's Island*, 429 S.C. 458, 462, 839 S.E.2d 879, 881 (2020) (citing *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121–22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). "Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law." *Id.* "When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Id.*

Although the moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, "this initial responsibility may be discharged by 'showing' – that is, pointing out to the trial court – that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." *Baughman v. American Telephone and Telegraph Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). Under South Carolina law, where

“plain, palpable and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ,” summary judgment in favor of the moving party is proper. *Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co.*, 267 S.C. 607, 610, 230 S.E.2d 447, 448 (1976). The Appellant must “do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts” but “must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a *genuine issue for trial.*’” *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545 (citing *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586–87, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d 538, 552 (1986) (emphasis in original)).

“The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 576, 762 S.E.2d 696, 700 (2014) (citing *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003)).

In reviewing the appeal of a grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard as the Circuit Court. Therefore, if this Court finds no valid and enforceable easement or property right exists in favor of Appellant, the order granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment should be upheld.

Appellant’s Initial Brief misses the forest through its critique of scattered trees. This case – in essence – turns on whether Appellant has an easement over the Subject Property. The Court of Common Pleas correctly held no, Appellant does not have an easement over the Subject Property. In doing so, the Court thoroughly analyzed a variety of reasons as to why an easement does not exist, and, even if some property right did exist, Appellants’ failure to record the right, coupled with its failure to secure a

subordination of the Wells Fargo Mortgages, resulted in the extinguishment of any purported property right held by Maybank.

Appellant, in its Initial Brief and Complaint, repeatedly and falsely claims it maintains an easement encumbering the Subject Property; however, that simply is not true.⁶ Instead, Appellant has a 2013 document (the Resolution) in which the Seller, PCA (50/50 owned by Laplante Family and Zurlo Trust), agreed to sell its membership interest in Maybank to four members of the Laplante Family, the Buyers. (R. pp. 1806). According to Appellant, that agreement provided:

“to grant ... an access easement...over that portion of lands of (PCA). ... the **location and condition** of which **shall be mutually agreed upon at the completion of that certain roadway known as Pitch Fork Road** (“Pitch Fork Road”). Upon the completion of Pitch Fork Road, the (PCA and the Laplante Family) shall execute and record an Easement Agreement to memorialize the 30’ Private R/W.”

* * *

“upon the completion of Pitch Fork Road [PCA] shall grant to [the Laplante Family] ... an easement ... the location and condition of which shall be mutually agreed upon at a future date.”

(Resolution.) (R. pp. 1806). (emphasis added). Indeed, Appellant’s initial brief admits, **“upon completion of Pitchfork (sic) Road, an easement agreement** to memorialize the thirty foot right of way easement **would follow.**” (Appellant’s Initial Brief at 7) (emphasis added). As of the date of filing of the Complaint and filing of this Brief, Pitch Fork Road is not complete. (Complaint; Appellant’s Initial Brief at 7).

⁶ And, in doing so, Appellant’s brief wrongfully claims The Beach Co. had “actual notice” of an easement. However, neither The Beach Co. nor any individual or entity can have notice of what does not exist.

Instead of an easement, Appellant relies upon a contract, to which it was not a party, which provides PCA will “mutually agree” with the Laplante Family to create an easement over the PCA Parcel at some undefined point in the future. (R. pp. 1806; 1808).

Appellant failed to record the Resolution, the Contract or the Assignment upon which it depends. (R. pp. 199; 479; 520). The Resolution provides that once Pitch Fork Road is complete, and once the parties to the Resolution “mutually agree” on the “location and condition,” only then will the parties “**execute and record an Easement.**” (R. pp. 1806). None of these events occurred.

Plainly stated – neither the Resolution, nor the other two documents upon which Appellant relies, is an easement nor does it grant an easement. For Appellant to insist and assert to the Court that it, in fact, has an easement over the PCA Property and, therefore, over the Subject Property is disingenuous. At best, Appellant makes its claims pursuant to an agreement to agree, which is not enforceable in South Carolina – particularly between two non-parties to the agreement. See *BCD LLC v. BMW Mfg. Co., LLC*, 360 F. App'x 428, 435 (4th Cir. 2010).

Now – after a judicial dissolution of PCA (50/50 owned by Laplante and Zurlo), in which there was no assertion of any right to an easement; the Wells Fargo Foreclosure, again in which there was no claim of an easement and any such easement would have nevertheless been extinguished; a sale of the PCA Property to 1776, and a sale of a portion of the property to Beach Fenwick, Appellant maintains an easement exists. Such is an astronomical reach and is not supported by South Carolina law.

Appellants are requesting this Court make unprecedented leaps – first, it seeks to recognize a property right based on an agreement to agree in the future, second, it seeks to circumvent recording statutes maintaining this unrecorded future easement encumbers all current and future landowners, then it requests the court enforce the unrecorded, unidentified, undescribed easement in favor of a party not subject to the Resolution and against a party not subject to the Resolution.

However, the Circuit Court rightfully disagreed with Appellant, and refused. (R. pp. 188, 191, 194). Upon the finding that “no easement exists,” for whatever reason, all of Appellant’s claims fail.

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